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The Project  

The primary objecƟve of the Extensive Urban Survey (EUS) is to create a record of the development and historic character of 
Lincolnshire's towns. It is anƟcipated that the survey will be of use and interest within the planning system and to the public, 
parƟcularly those living within or visiƟng the towns. It should be noted that although every effort has been made to be thor-
ough, the reports are not completely comprehensive and should not be expected to cover all that is known about a place. 

The project consists of a wriƩen report, detailing the archaeological and historical background and development of the town. 
The character of the town will also be discussed within the report within specific Historical Urban Character Area (HUCA) as-
sessments, which indicate the heritage value of each area based upon the four values idenƟfied within Historic England's 2008 
ConservaƟon Principles: EvidenƟal, Historical, AestheƟc, and Communal, these are also compared to values seen in the NaƟon-
al Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

The Extensive Urban Survey provides a ‘snap shot’ of the development of the towns of Lincolnshire taken at the Ɵme of survey, 
as such it is one of many data sets which could and should be consulted prior to development proposals within the towns. The 
Lincolnshire Historic Environment Record (HER) maintains an up to date record of all historical and archaeological data that is 
known within the county, and should be consulted as part of planning applicaƟons (NPPF21 para194). 

LocaƟon 

Spalding is located in the south of Lincolnshire within the administraƟve district of South Holland. It is within NaƟonal Character 
Area 46—The Fens. This character area is described as an expansive,Êflat,ÊopenÊlow-lyingÊwetlandÊinfluencedÊbyÊtheÊWashÊestu-
ary…ÊofferingÊextensiveÊvistasÊandÊhugeÊskiesÊthroughoutÊprovidingÊaÊsenseÊofÊruralÊremotenessÊandÊtranquillity…ÊtheÊsoilsÊareÊ
importantÊforÊagricultureÊwhichÊisÊhugelyÊsignificantÊforÊtheÊruralÊeconomyÊinÊtheÊfens…ÊsomeÊ40ÊpercentÊofÊEngland’sÊbulbsÊandÊ
flowersÊareÊalsoÊproducedÊinÊtheÊFens...ÊopenÊfields,ÊboundedÊbyÊaÊnetworkÊofÊdrainsÊandÊrivers...ÊoverallÊwoodlandÊisÊsparse,ÊwithÊ
aÊfewÊsmallÊwoodlandÊblocks,ÊshelterbeltsÊandÊroadsideÊavenues.ÊSeƩlementsÊandÊisolatedÊfarmsteadsÊareÊmostlyÊlocatedÊonÊtheÊ
modestlyÊelevatedÊ‘geologicalÊislands’ÊandÊtheÊlowÊsinuousÊroddenÊbanks.ÊElsewhereÊvillagesÊtendÊtoÊbeÊdispersedÊribbonÊseƩle-
mentsÊalongÊtheÊmainÊarterialÊroutesÊthroughÊtheÊseƩledÊfensÊandÊscaƩeredÊfarmsÊremainÊasÊrelicsÊofÊearlierÊagriculturalÊseƩle-
ments.Ê In the Lincolnshire Historic Landscape CharacterisaƟon, Spalding is within Regional Character Zone WSH6 Townlands 
within The Wash Character Area. The historic landscape evoluƟon of the area is described from the Prehistoric and Roman peri-
ods asÊbeingÊcoastalÊinÊcharacterÊconsisƟngÊofÊanÊareaÊofÊinterƟdalÊsaltmarshÊwithÊlocalisedÊareasÊofÊmarginallyÊhigherÊground.Ê
FallingÊseaÊ levelsÊfromÊtheÊmidÊAnglo-SaxonÊperiodÊallowedÊseƩlementÊonÊdrierÊareasÊ inÊ theÊformÊofÊ isolatedÊranchesÊandÊsaltÊ
manufacturingÊsites.ÊByÊ theÊ lateÊAnglo-SaxonÊperiodÊaÊ landscapeÊofÊsmallÊvillagesÊwithinÊanÊ irregularÊfieldÊpaƩernÊwasÊestab-
lishedÊonÊaÊlongÊcurveÊofÊhigherÊsiltÊland.ÊPopulaƟonÊexpansionÊduringÊtheÊ12thÊandÊ13thÊcenturiesÊoccurredÊatÊtheÊsameÊƟmeÊasÊ
reclamaƟonÊofÊsaltmarshÊandÊfreshwaterÊfen.ÊDrainageÊwasÊaÊconƟnualÊpreoccupaƟonÊofÊallÊcommuniƟesÊwithinÊthisÊzone,ÊasÊ
theÊonusÊonÊdigging,Êembanking,ÊandÊmaintainingÊdrainsÊandÊwatercoursesÊ
restedÊonÊ localÊ inhabitantsÊandÊ landowners.ÊThroughoutÊ theÊpostÊmedievalÊ
periodÊfieldsÊwereÊamalgamatedÊandÊre-enclosedÊthroughÊpiecemealÊagree-
mentsÊ betweenÊ individualÊ landownersÊ andÊ tenants.Ê TheÊ resulƟngÊ sub-
divisionÊandÊre-organisaƟonÊofÊtheÊlandÊdividedÊtheÊorganicÊpaƩernÊofÊfieldsÊ
andÊ curvilinearÊ arrangementÊ ofÊ parallelÊ stripsÊwithÊ straightÊ andÊ geometricÊ
boundaries.ÊDuringÊ theÊ secondÊhalfÊ ofÊ theÊ twenƟethÊ century,Ê theÊ zoneÊhasÊ
experiencedÊ considerableÊfieldÊboundaryÊ loss,Ê resulƟngÊ inÊ anÊ increasedÊen-
closureÊsizeÊthatÊhasÊdissipatedÊtheÊearlierÊfieldÊmorphologies.ÊMarketÊtownsÊ
withinÊtheÊzoneÊhaveÊundergoneÊlargeÊscaleÊperi-urbanÊresidenƟalÊandÊcom-
mercialÊexpansion,ÊcoupledÊwithÊtheÊcreaƟonÊofÊnewÊroadÊinfrastructures. 

The bedrock geology underlying Spalding is recorded by the BriƟsh Geologi-
cal Survey as comprising bedrock of Oxford Clay FormaƟon Mudstone, over-
lain by Ɵdal flat deposits made up of clay and silt. Topographically, Spalding 
is located on an area of land 5-6 metres above sea level; this is raised from 
the surrounding area which is between 3-4 metres above sea level.  

The parish boundary excluding Pinchbeck has provided the Spalding survey 
boundary. 
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Summary  

SeƩlement is recorded in the area from the Iron Age although acƟvity in the area is visible from earlier periods. Evidence of 
farmsteads, iron working and salt-producƟon has been found across the west and south of the survey area from the late Iron 
Age onwards. This evidence suggests that seƩlement spread north in the early-medieval and medieval period. Land and water 
management infrastructure is also seen across the periods with the construcƟon of large drainage ditches. One of the most well 
known during the Roman period, the Westlode, also probably served as a route of navigaƟon. Since the Roman period, the con-
necƟon between Spalding and water is highly legible, be this in the form of ditches and landscape management or through the 
trade facilitated by the River Welland. 

The seƩlement of Spalding began in the early medieval period and by the Domesday Survey three estates were recorded in the 
town. In 1051, Spalding Priory was established; its extent covered much of the present-day town centre and for much of the 
medieval period contributed a great deal to the organisaƟon and prosperity of the town. The town’s layout, including the mar-
ket areas were established during this period. In the post-medieval period, a short period of decline was followed by a surge in 
prosperity for the town as a consequence of its growth as a port which encouraged development along the river in the 18th and 
19th centuries. This has resulted in a townscape of a very disƟnct character. The river trade declined in the laƩer part of the 19th 
century following the introducƟon of the railway, which resulted in the concentraƟon of new development in the town to its 
west side as industries sought to be close to the staƟon. In the modern period, the town has expanded residenƟally on all sides 

as the populaƟon has grown. A 
large industrial area has also been 
established to the north of the 
town as industries have moved 
away from the town centre and 
river into designated out-of-town 
industrial areas. Spalding’s charac-
ter is varied, however its develop-
ment and principal focus through-
out the centuries is legible across 
the area which has created an 
acƟve historical town.  
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1. HISTORICAL AND ARCHAEOLOGICAL  

BACKGROUND 

1.1 PREHISTORIC 
Evidence so far recorded within the survey boundary does not indicate that seƩlement was taking place within the survey area 
prior to the Iron Age, although a small number of finds have been recorded. The lack of evidence may be aƩributed to the silt 
fen environment, which extends from Spalding to The Wash. This was a unique but challenging environment for early seƩle-
ment. AddiƟonally, later marine inundaƟon has also covered archaeological deposits with layers of silt thereby building up the 
ground level, through accumulaƟon and obscuring archaeological evidence under deep alluvial deposits. In the wider fenland, 
evidence of prehistoric seƩlement is seen in Lincolnshire and Cambridgeshire, most notably through the eye-catching discovery 
of wooden trackways and log boats. Neolithic axes have been recorded in Gosberton Cheal, 2.7km to the north of Spalding and 
a small number of probable Bronze Age tools are recorded from the area directly surrounding Spalding. To date, one possible 
Mesolithic microlith has been recorded in the church yard of St Mary and St Nicholas in Spalding (HER: MLI83406). 

Evidence for seƩlement is apparent locally from the Iron Age. To the south-west of the town, adjacent to Bourne Road, a do-
mesƟc and industrial site was excavated (HER: MLI20553). This site was located on a rodden (the raised remains of a silted up 
water channel) and contained evidence which is suggesƟve of Iron Age to Roman occupaƟon spanning several phases. Large 
amounts of animal bone and poƩery including the remains of a house mouse retrieved from the site indicate the presence of 
domesƟc dwellings. These finds were supported by archaeological features which are thought to be the remains of round hous-
es. Briquetage (ceramic material associated with salt making) discovered on the site indicates that salt making was also taking 
place in the vicinity. The latest prehistoric evidence on the site dates to the 1st century AD. The fact this domesƟc site is located 
away from the present-day town centre suggests there was a break in the conƟnuity of seƩlement aŌer the early Roman peri-
od. A site recorded to the east of Pennygate reveals further evidence for salt making acƟvity which took place in the 1st and 2nd 
centuries (HER: MLI89826). The site also contains ditches and pits with further evidence of briquetage. The discovery of further 
prehistoric remains within the survey area would improve understanding of Spalding during the period.  

1.2 ROMAN 
There is evidence from several sites and findspots across the area which suggest that seƩlement conƟnued throughout the late 
Iron Age and into the Roman period. In the wider area, drainage and land reclamaƟon were taking place during the Roman pe-
riod and at this Ɵme seƩlements in the area had access to the sea via the River Welland. There is some evidence for High Bridge 
(HER: MLI23608, NHLE: 1063997) having origins in the Roman period. In 1745, works on the bridge discovered a coin, which 
was thought to be Roman, within the stone pier for the bridge arch (HER: MLI23607). It is suggested that this may have been a 
bridge along a Roman Road which linked Baston in the south-west, with Spalding in the north-east (Hallam, 1970). The true 
provenance of this coin has not been confirmed in the modern period as its locaƟon is now unknown.  

Evidence of Roman acƟvity daƟng to between the 1st and 4th centuries is found across the area of the modern town centre, 
largely relaƟng to scaƩered finds of poƩery and coins (HER: MLI22377, MLI80348, MLI23598, MLI20258, MLI23610, MLI23611, 
MLI23607, MLI22357, MLI23606). An early Romano-BriƟsh site, recorded on Kings Road, which contained evidence of burnt 
bone and poƩery, is thought to be the remains of a meat processing site (HER: MLI97863). Further archaeological features 
were idenƟfied north-west of Westlode Street in Castle Fields, including a pit containing burnt bone and briquetage (HER: 
MLI85766). Nearby, evidence of the existence of Roman buildings has been suggested by the discovery of a roof Ɵle near to 
Paddock Green (HER: MLI91170). 

To the west of the survey area there are numerous confirmed sites of acƟvity which are suggesƟve of seƩlement. These sites 
indicate that industrial scale of salt producƟon was taking place in the Roman period. Evidence of dwellings, arable culƟvaƟon 
and domesƟc refuse further suggest local domesƟc occupaƟon. Roman sites in this area are oŌen up to 1m below the present 
day surface, having been buried by later marine inundaƟons. The transiƟon from the Iron Age to Roman seƩlement is recorded 
within a site on Woolram Wygate to the west of the survey area, which also contained evidence of domesƟc and salt making 
acƟvity (HER: MLI84933). Finds from the site date to the 1st to 3rd century and record the changing environment of the area. 
The earlier evidence on the site demonstrates that it iniƟally had more of an industrial focus. Large amounts of briquetage, 
charcoal and burnt clay as well as a complex of hearths and seƩling tanks have been excavated, confirming that salt making was 
in operaƟon (HER: MLI84934, MLI84973, MLI86580). It appears to have become more residenƟal as the Roman period pro-
gressed (HER: MLI84938), although smithing conƟnued in the 2nd and 3rd centuries (HER: MLI89198). During this Ɵme the salt 
water creeks also changed to fresh water which may have contributed to the changing nature of the site and the apparent de-
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cline in salt making. A ladder ditch system indicates that water management was being pracƟced for arable farming (HER: 
MLI89198). PoƩery idenƟfied from the site mainly included local Nene Valley Wares although Samian Ware sherds were also 
noted. By the end of the Roman period or early medieval period the site had been buried by marine transgression, obscuring 
the earlier features with sand and silts leŌ as waters receded. By the medieval period, the land had dried out sufficiently to be 
agriculturally culƟvated as shown by ridge-and-furrow recorded on the site. 

Further sites to the south-west of the survey area contain evidence of Romano-BriƟsh and Roman occupaƟon. To the south-
west of Woolram Wygate evidence of animal bone, poƩery and slag have been recovered from a site which are indicaƟve of a 
probable local seƩlement (HER: MLI23613). This site, which dates to between the 2nd and 3rd centuries, is thought to be one 
part of a wider field system and seƩlement complex which may once have expanded over a much wider area. Archaeological 
remains recorded 200m to the south-east of this contain evidence of a Romano-BriƟsh salt-making site, although this industry 
appears to have halted following marine transgression into the area (HER: MLI23638). Archaeological remains are also recorded 
300m to the south-east of this, on Broadway, dated to the 1st and 2nd centuries (HER: MLI81540). The remains of daub, poƩery 
and ditches from the site indicate that it was also a farmstead. The amount of industrial and residenƟal remains within the sur-
vey area, parƟcularly in its western extent indicate that it had intense acƟvity over a number of centuries.  

1.3 EARLY MEDIEVAL AND ANGLO-SAXON 
It appears that the managed landscape of the Roman period returned to being a wetland with marine transgressions becoming 
common. Wider environmental changes may have contributed to this paƩern. There is less archaeological evidence from the 
early medieval period recorded within the area in the Historic Environment Record (HER). Despite this, seƩlement within the 
survey boundary is known to have been occurring. The Fenland Survey, which was undertaken in the early 1990s and funded by 
English Heritage, suggests that during this period scaƩered farmsteads (such as those seen in the Roman period) were aban-
doned in favour of more nucleated seƩlement and communal farming. If true, the lack of physical remains may be accounted 
for by subsequent development on the early site which has since become the modern day town centre of Spalding.  

Finds of poƩery daƟng to between the 5th and 8th century (HER: MLI89182) have been recorded on the modern Benner Hill In-
dustrial Estate to the north of the survey boundary. Further finds on this site daƟng to between the 10th and 12th centuries 
(HER: MLI81915) indicate that it was used at varying points in the early medieval and medieval periods (HER: MLI83934, 
MLI83935). The abraded nature of some of the poƩery indicates that it may have been discarded into an agricultural area, alt-
hough some non-intrusive invesƟgaƟon also indicates the possibility of purposefully constructed features. At the south of the 
survey area further remains of a possible Saxon enclosure are recorded on Spalding Common (HER: MLI82036).  
Charters daƟng to 716AD and 833AD confirm the existence of a seƩlement in Spalding, and show that land belonging to Spal-
ding was granted to the Abbot of Crowland (HER: MLI23603), (Sawyer, 1998). Evidence of this agreement is seen 200 years lat-
er, as Crowland is listed as a landowner at the Ɵme of the Domesday survey of 1086 . In 1051, Thorald of Bucknall gave a grant 
of land in Spalding for the foundaƟon of a religious cell there. It is possible this cell became a hub of economic acƟvity as from 
the late 11th century a Sunday market was taking place in the town. This may indicate that it was established close to a religious 
centre where both trade and worship could be carried out.  

1.3.1 PLACE-NAME EVIDENCE  
The name Spalding, is thought to mean ‘the people of the Spalde’, or ‘descendants of the Spaldas’; and is derived from the 
name of a tribe the ‘Spalde’ (Cameron, 1998, Ekwall, 1960). This tribe was recorded in a 7th/8th century list known as the Tribal 
Hidage. This list recorded the names of tribes south of the Humber and assigned a number of hides (hides being an area of 
land), to each one; its true purpose is unknown and the original document is now lost. The name Spalde, in Old English, which 
was spoken between the 5th and 12th centuries, means ‘narrow opening’ and could be a topographical descripƟon. 
1.3.2 DOMESDAY SURVEY 
The Domesday survey of 1086 records Spalding as belonging to three estates which included two manors and a berewic. This 
amounts to a total populaƟon of 91 households, placing the town in the largest 20% of seƩlements included in the survey at 
this Ɵme (Powell-Smith, 2011). The largest estate belonged to Ivo Tallboys (Talbois), nephew of William the Conqueror, which 
was a manor estate with access to a wide array of resources and trade opportuniƟes. It increased in value between 1066 and 
1086 from £23 to £30. The manor is believed to have been located to the north of the River Westlode, its hypothesised site 
noted on Grundy’s map which depicted the town in 1732. A market was listed as part of the estate, probably in the manor. The 
Tallboys estate included 9 carucates (a carucate was approximately 120 acres) of taxable land, with 4 lords plough teams, a 
wood of Alders, 40 villagers, 33 smallholders who operated 13 men’s plough teams, 6 fisheries and 2 salthouses. 

A second manor and estate belonged to Guy of Craon which included 11 bovates (a bovate was approximately 15 acres) of taxa-
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ble land. This was worked by 1 lord’s plough team and 3 villagers were recorded who probably operated 1/2 the plough team 
which was also listed in the survey. A ‘drying place with salt houses’ is also recorded. This estate, which had belonged to Aethel-
stan prior to the conquest, did not increase in value between 1066 and 1086.  

The abbey of Crowland held a berewic in Spalding, meaning an outlying dependency which sƟll belonged to the manor. It in-
cluded 2 carucates of taxable land with 1 1/2 ploughs, 7 villagers and 4 smallholders, with 3 ploughs. The locaƟon of these es-
tates and their manors is not known, although some suggest that the Ivo Tallboys’ manor, which later became a castle, is locat-
ed on the site which is later recorded as the castle in Grundy’s 1732 map; to the north of the Westlode. The site of Crowland 
Abbey became the later of Spalding Priory and was located in the triangle formed between the Westlode, the market place and 
the River Welland. The third manor, which belonged to Guy of Craon, was possibly located to the east of the River Welland in 
the block of land which is now occupied by the Church of St Mary and St Nicholas and Ayscoughfee Hall (NAU Archeology, 
2008).  

1.4 MEDIEVAL 
Spalding conƟnued as a religious centre and residenƟal seƩlement. It also became an extensive and flourishing inland port dur-
ing the medieval period and the HER records many heritage assets daƟng to this period within the survey boundary, both above 
and below ground.  

1.4.1 STREET PATTERN AND DEVELOPMENT  
As stated, it is probable that the three estates noted in the Domesday Survey were located in three separate areas, to the north 
of the Westlode, in the angle created by the confluence of the Westlode and the River Welland, and to the east of the River 
Welland. These areas were likely on slightly raised areas (roddens) of land, which, being free-draining would have been prefer-
rable for development. In the medieval period, the more developed areas appear to have been within the confluence of the 
water courses and to the east of the River Welland.  

Spalding Priory was highly influenƟal in the town and in the 13th century a market was established outside of its northern 
boundary, in the same locaƟon as a Market Place in the present day. Goods for the market could be transported on the 
Westlode and the River Welland. The area now known as the sheep market, was used for the offloading of goods. At this Ɵme it 
was known as The Gore, aŌer which Gore Lane takes its name (Wright, 1973). 

To the east of the River Welland, the church was estab-
lished in the 13th century, on the site of an older ceme-
tery chapel; and in the area of the probable seƩlement 
site which is documented as belonging to Guy Craon in 
the Domesday survey. Large houses with gardens were 
also constructed to the east of the river including 
Ascoughfee Hall (HER: MLI22360, NHLE: 1359532) 
which was built in 1420 and Holyrood House, which 
dated to 1500 (HER: MLI22391). As is standard medieval 
town design, these houses were located adjacent to the 
parish church. Spalding Castle is believed to have been 
extant to the north-west of the Westlode, in the area of 
the present day Castle Sports centre, east of Pinchbeck 
Road. Further research is on-going into the full nature of 
the castle and its exact locaƟon.  

1.4.2 RELIGION AND EDUCATION  
As seen in paragraph 1.3, Spalding had connecƟons with the BenedicƟne Abbey of Crowland from the 8th century and in 1052 
Spalding Priory was founded as a daughter priory; dedicated to St Mary the Virgin and St Nicholas. The priory owned a lot of 
land in the area and its precinct covered a large area in what is now the town centre of Spalding (HER: MLI22355). It stretched 
from Wensover Road in the west, St Thomas’ Road towards Spalding Grammar School in the south, the River Welland in the 
east and the market place in the north. Its extent was depicted in William Dugdale's MonasƟcon Anglicanum; a history of the 
ancient abbeys, and other monasteries, hospitals, cathedrals and collegiate churches wriƩen in the 17th century. This document 
shows the priory precinct as including main priory buildings, a gateway, gardens and a merchants’ market. In 1071, following 
the Norman conquest, the house was re-founded instead as a daughter cell to the Abbey of St Nicholas in Angers, France. It is 
thought that this was insƟgated by Ivo Tallboys, who had ill feelings towards the Saxon monks of Crowland Abbey, although it 

Church of St Mary and St Nicholas 
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should be noted that the author of this claim, Ingulf, of Crowland Abbey wriƟng in the 12th century, was not unbiased (Page, 
1906). An uneasy relaƟonship between the Priory of Spalding and Crowland Abbey ensued over the following centuries with 
occasional land disputes and destrucƟon of property. Spalding Priory remained as part of the French Abbey’s jurisdicƟon unƟl 
1397, although efforts were made from as early as 1232 to disengage the priory from their obligaƟons, and payment to the 
mother cell ceased long before the end of the 14th century. 

Over the 13th century the priory increased in both wealth and power; it was at this Ɵme that the vills of Weston, Spalding, 
Moulton and Pinchbeck came under the priory’ lordship along with wreckÊofÊtheÊseaÊforÊthreeÊleaguesÊalongÊtheÊcoast,ÊandÊfreeÊ
warrensÊandÊfisheriesÊ inÊseveralÊplacesÊ(Page, 1906), and their income in 1294 amounted to £515. It was this wealth which fi-
nanced building projects such as a new parish church (St Mary and St Nicholas) in 1284 (HER: MLI22383, NHLE: 1359547). It was 
constructed on the site of an earlier Norman chapel dedicated to St Thomas Becket (HER: MLI23609) and parts of the earlier 
building are visible in the eastern wall of the present day structure. In 1315, a chantry chapel of the Blessed Virgin and Guild of 
St Thomas the Martyr was founded within the southern transept, it later became part of the free grammar school.  

In the present day there are only a small number of complete buildings remaining from Spalding priory and its associated hous-
es; some reused masonry can however, be located around the town. Complete buildings include the Prior’s Oven (a turret from 
the priory wall) and a range of coƩages which were built between the 14th and 15th centuries from the remains of other priory 
buildings (HER: MLI22363, NHLE: 1306500). The priory also had mulƟple granges within the survey boundary. These properƟes 
were used for agricultural producƟon and occupied by a small number of monks or labourers who would provide food products 
for the religious community. Halmer Grange (HER: 
MLI22378) is believed to have been located beneath the 
playing field of Spalding High School. Another probable 
grange known as ‘Monk’s House’ was located on Bourne 
Road. The current building on this site dates to the early 
16th century and was built within a moat (HER: 
MLI94282, MLI22356, NHLE: 1063993).  

These buildings were constructed towards the end of the 
priory’s operaƟon as it was later dissolved by Act of Par-
liament in 1540. 

Further evidence of religious buildings and insƟtuƟons 
are known from documentary sources although their 
exact locaƟons are not known. In the early centuries of the medieval period, a second Church of the Holy Cross is known to 
have existed, probably located near to the Town Hall. It was pulled down by 1284 and modern shops occupy its site today (HER: 
MLI22354). In the early 14th century, Spalding had its own leper hospital which may well have been linked to the priory as it was 
also dedicated to St Nicholas (Page, 1906).  

In 1501, almshouses were founded on Church Street by John Gamlyn. They were rebuilt in 1843-44 by William Todd in a Tudor 
style, and are now Grade II listed (HER: MLI23211, NHLE: 1064003).  

1.4.3 ECONOMY AND  INDUSTRY   
Spalding became one of the wealthiest ports in the Lincolnshire Fens, its wealth generated from its status as an entrepôt for 
towns such as Stamford, Peterborough and Bourne. Much of the economic wealth of the town was generated and controlled by 
Spalding Priory; in 1300 the priory is recorded to have exported 40 sacks of wool and investment in the wool trade during this 
period was highly lucraƟve. The monks also furthered their economic reach by reclaiming new lands from the sea which could 
then be culƟvated or for other uses (Owen, 1971). As a result, Spalding became a leading market centre in the area. 

A large part of the town’s economy was based upon the exploitaƟon of the natural resources of the surrounding environs. Salt 
producƟon conƟnued to be a large industry during the medieval period and the evidence for salterns is considerable (HER: 
MLI23591, MLI84750). Archaeological remains of a large industrial site, which may have been in operaƟon unƟl the 13th centu-
ry, are known towards the northern extent of the survey boundary in Pinchbeck Marsh (HER: MLI23633). The extent of the 
works here are vast and would have amounted to a large industrial operaƟon, with water vats and filtraƟon systems, facilitaƟng 
efficient salt producƟon. Another site, which also dates to before the 13th century, is recorded to the south of Pinchbeck (HER: 
MLI89837). It was during this century that increasing marine inundaƟon was beginning to impact the Lincolnshire coast, which 
possibly contributed to the abandonment of the salterns in this area. 

As stated in the Domesday survey Spalding had 6 fisheries in the 11th century and the seƩlement was exploiƟng further re-
sources associated within the wetland environment. In 1251 the Abbot of Spalding was requested to supply Henry III with 

Gamlyn’s Almshouses 
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swans, cranes and other wild fowl for the feast of St Edward (Darby 1974).  

Although a market was already taking place, as recorded by the Domesday survey, further permission was granted for markets 
in Spalding during the medieval period. In 1242 a market charter was granted to the prior and convent of Spalding by Henry III, 
and further permission was granted in 1281 (although this was possibly a reaffirmaƟon of the earlier agreement), (LeƩers, 
2004). In the same year, two further fairs were also granted to the prior, one in honour of St Nicholas in December, who was 
one of the patron saints of the parish, and another to the Holy Cross in September. It is likely that fairs were being carried out 
earlier and that these charters were also confirming earlier arrangements rather than establishing new events. In the late 13th 
century wool, wine, firewood, turves and coal were traded through the town. By 1336, expansion of the town’s economy is 
indicated by an increase of items which were traded through Spalding including corn, malt, horses, oxen, caƩle hides, meat, 
cloth, wine, honey, wool, salt, dairy products and fish. A herring quay belonging to the prior of Spalding was located in the town 
at the end of Herring Lane during this period (Clarke, 1978). 

1.4.4 LANDSCAPE  
The landscape surrounding Spalding is varied with peat fenland to the west and silt fenland to the east. In the medieval period, 
large scale reclamaƟon was taking place on the seaward side of the town, much of which was insƟgated by the priory of Spal-
ding, although some private enterprises also took place. In the early centuries of the period, granges and isolated houses were 
established by the priory as bases for the improvement of the surrounding land.  

‘inÊyearsÊpast,ÊbeyondÊlivingÊmemory,ÊtheseÊplacesÊwereÊinaccessibleÊneitherÊforÊmanÊnorÊforÊbeast,ÊaffordingÊonlyÊdeepÊmudÊwithÊ
sedgeÊandÊampleÊreedsÊandÊinhabitedÊbyÊbirds...ÊThisÊisÊnowÊchangedÊintoÊdelighƞulÊmeadowsÊandÊarableÊgroundÊwhatÊthereforeÊ
doesÊnotÊproduceÊcornÊorÊhayÊbringsÊforthÊabundantÊsedge,ÊturfÊandÊotherÊfuelÊusefulÊtoÊtheÊinhabitantsÊofÊtheÊregion’ (Darby, 
1974). 

Some of the landscape was also divided into organised field systems 
with extensive areas of pasture. Many field boundaries comprised large 
interconnecƟng ditches which served a dual purpose by also controlling 
water levels and facilitaƟng drainage. The surrounding area provided 
considerable resources including fish and water fowl, which were plen-
Ɵful owing to the proximity of many bodies of open water and ditches.   

1.4.5 CHARACTERISTIC BUILDINGS  

The White Hart Hotel (HER: MLI23568, NHLE: 1063953) 
The Grade II* listed White Hart Hotel is believed to date to the late 14th 
century although the earliest idenƟfiable elements date to the 15th. The 
building, which stands in the Market Place, was extensively remodelled 
aŌer the Great Fire of Spalding in 1715, which damaged several other properƟed in the town, and was again parƟally rebuilt 
following bomb damage sustained during the Second World War.  

Ayscoughfee Hall and gardens (HER: MLI98387, NHLE: 1063953) 
Ayscoughfee Hall is Grade I listed and was built in the early 15th century 
with a dendrochronological survey confirming a compleƟon date of  
circaÊ1451. It has undergone numerous alteraƟons since, most notably 
in 1793 and 1845. It was built for Sir Richard Aldwyn in brick—a materi-
al which was extremely expensive at the Ɵme and only used in high 
status buildings. 

The Prior’s Oven (HER: MLI22362, NHLE: 1359545) 
This Grade II* listed building dates to approximately 1230 and is one of 
the few remaining structures originaƟng from the BenedicƟne Priory. 
Originally it is believed to have served the priory as a defensive turret 
and lock-up for monks, it was uƟlised again for a prison in the 1820s. In 
the mid-19th century, it was converted into a blacksmiths and by the 20th century had become a café. It is now in use as a micro-
pub. Its unusual octagonal shape has been preserved despite external alteraƟons in the 19th century which greatly affected its 
appearance. The interior of the building consists of a single room with mulƟple floors. 

1.5 POST-MEDIEVAL  
The post-medieval period was one of great change for the town and it was largely during this period that many of the buildings 

Ayscoughfee Hall 
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in the town centre and along the river were constructed. The populaƟon of the town expanded throughout the 19th century 
with a populaƟon of 3296 recorded in 1801, 5207 in 1821 and 7778 in 1841. There was a small decline between 1881 and 1891, 
at which point it fell from its 19th century peak of 9260 people to 9014. This decline coincided with the decline in the economic 
acƟvity of the port. Growth quickly resumed and by 1901 the populaƟon had risen to 9385. 

1.5.1 STREET PATTERN AND DEVELOPMENT  
Spalding did not expand outside of its compact medieval core for much of the post-medieval period. The town conƟnued to be 
focussed largely within the triangle of land created by the conflu-
ence of the Westlode and the River Welland extending south-west 
towards Market Place. Other heavily developed areas were around 
Double Street, Sheep Market and Crackpool Lane. In 1715, Market 
Place, Swan Street and the immediate vicinity suffered a great 
amount of damage due to a fire, resulƟng in the destrucƟon of 84 
buildings amounƟng to £20,560 in repairs. It was during this period 
that brick and pan-Ɵle overtook Ɵmber and thatch as the dominant 
building materials, thereby reducing the risk from fires. There was 
liƩle development south of Market Place and it was not unƟl 1843 
that the Crescent was constructed (Wright, 1973). In the mid 19th 
century, the railway was built to the south-west of the town. As its 
influence grew it began to take a larger role in Spalding’s trade and economy, which directed new development in the town 
away from its former heart, alongside the quays, to the south-west of the town; towards the staƟon.  New streets were built 
during the 1860s and 70s on either side of St Thomas Road, including Spring Gardens, HenrieƩa Street, Spring Street and Cross 
Street. The housing throughout these streets comprised semi-detached, detached and terraced housing and is indicaƟve of 
Spalding’s growing economy during this period and societal hierarchies. Ribbon development of new housing began along the 
main roads leading out of the town such as Pinchbeck Road to the north-west and Albert Road to the north-east, with the con-

Large terraced houses beside the River Welland. 

Based upon John Grundy’s map 1732 © Spalding Gentleman’s Society 
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strucƟon of a number of villas in the mid-late 19th century, as well as several smaller terraced properƟes.  

Double Street and the town centre saw a decline in its populaƟon during the mid 19th century. In Double Street this occurred 
despite the number of houses in the street increasing from 61 to 77. This is aƩributed to the increase in police regulaƟon of 
lodging houses, many of which were located here; in close proximity to the River Welland (Clark, 1992). The town centre gradu-
ally became more concentrated with commercial properƟes as more people moved away from the centre to live in the suburbs, 
a trend which increased during the 20th century with the  improvements to transport.  

In 1853, The Spalding Improvement Act was implemented for the ‘paving,Ê lighƟng,Êwatching,Ê drainingÊ supplyingÊwithÊwater,Ê
cleansing,ÊregulaƟngÊandÊotherwiseÊimprovingÊtheÊtown’. One of the issues highlighted by the report was the overcrowded con-
diƟon of the town centre churchyard. As part of the Improvement Commissioner’s schemes in the town, the new cemetery was 
founded in 1854 on Pinchbeck Road (HER: MLI125648). It consisted of 6 acres with an ornamental gateway (MLI125652), keep-
ers lodge and two cemetery chapels for the Anglican and non-conformist faiths (HER: MLI125649, MLI97743).  

1.5.2 LANDSCAPE 
In the 16th and 17th centuries, many areas which had been reclaimed from the fen were re-submerged. This is aƩributed, by 
some, to the dissoluƟon of the monasteries who held some responsibility for their upkeep. WriƟng in 1662, Sir William Dugdale 
noted that they were witnessing the ‘totalÊdrowningÊofÊthisÊgreatÊlevel’Êdue to the fact that ‘theÊpassagesÊforÊwaterÊwereÊkeptÊ
withÊcleansingÊandÊtheÊbanksÊwithÊbeƩerÊrepair,ÊchieflyÊthroughÊtheÊcareÊandÊcostÊofÊthoseÊreligiousÊhouses’Ê(Darby, 1956). In 
1618, the River Welland between Spalding and Crowland was inspected by commissioners who suggested that the stone bridge 
should be taken down, the river widened and that a sluice be erected at the Spalding end of the Cowbit Wash. These measures 
proved beneficial, although were not popular among local people who missed out on opportuniƟes for collecƟng waterfowl and 
fish as a result. It appears that during the confusion of the Civil War, between 1642 and 1651, that the banks and sluices were 
neglected, again returning some of the fens to a wetland (Gooch, 1940). The Parliamentary Act for the enclosure and draining 
of part of the parish of Spalding was passed in 1801.  

Throughout the 18th and 19th centuries, increasing demand for building materials and the ready availability of clay saw the crea-
Ɵon of new brick works within the survey area, including one at Clay Lake to the south-east of the survey area. There are sever-
al local buildings which are constructed using handmade bricks.  

1.5.3 ECONOMY AND INDUSTRY 
Spalding’s economy declined slightly in the 17th century. The closure of Spalding Priory was a contribuƟng factor to this decline. 
The town’s economy was heavily reliant on the organisaƟon and network provided by the priory. NavigaƟon of the River Wel-
land had declined by the 16th century, due to a large number of mills on the river which had reportedly been blocking its course. 
Furthermore, the closure of the priory and religious houses across the county impacted many local economies which relied 
upon these establishments for organisaƟon and investment. A system of Town Husbands was established following the refor-
maƟon to replace some of the management which had been provided by the priory. The economy appears to have revived in 
the 18th century in large part due to the success of the port of Spalding. Its role was parƟcularly important during the medieval 
and post-medieval periods as Spalding served as the entrepôt for Stamford and the Deepings. Stamford exported KeƩon build-
ing stone and Collyweston slates, some of which can sƟll be seen in buildings within Spalding. UnƟl the mid-18th century boats 
could not pass High Bridge so large sea-going vessels were brought to the port and goods were loaded onto lighters and taken 
up stream to the other towns in such smaller craŌ (Wright, 1982). In 1745 the stone bridge was replaced by a new wooden one 
with leaves in the middle which could be raised to allow larger ships to pass. This was replaced by the current bridge in 1836 
(HER: MLI23608, NHLE: 1063997). 

The town became part of the Port of Boston during this period and 
accounted for one seventh of its trade (Wright, 1982). Agricultural 
products were among the main exports from the area, these prod-
ucts included flax, hemp, rape and wheat. These products were 
then taken to factories and mills locally to produce secondary prod-
ucts such as flour, oil and malt. In the early 19th century, other in-
dustries such as malƟng and brewing became increasingly concen-
trated in town centres and many were established locally to serve 
local public houses. The quay declined in the late 19th century fol-
lowing the introducƟon of the railway which absorbed a large 
amount of trade and also changed the town’s trading focus as new 
industries established themselves on the west of the town to be Chain Bridge Forge Museum 
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nearer to the railway depot (Wright, 1973).  

The success of the port also created many ancillary trades, including rope and sail producƟon, boatbuilding and blacksmithing. 
New public houses were also established, oŌen located close to the river to capitalise on the river trade. As a result growing 
numbers of large houses were also constructed along High Street and Double Street, for the growing numbers of businessmen 
and merchants who were establishing themselves in the town. With this growing economy Spalding became the locaƟon of 
new banks and premises were opened in the town from the 1830s, including the Spalding and Stamford Banking Co in 1832, 
Barclays Bank in 1862 (HER: MLI94543, NHLE: 1306616) and Lloyd’s Bank (HER: MLI94493, NHLE: 1169333) in the mid-late 19th 
century. Spalding was the largest seƩlement in the fens of South Holland and as such provided supporƟve and administraƟve 
services to the wider district. 

There were several ropeworks in operaƟon, the earliest of which to be recorded was in 1641 and by the late 18th and early 19th 
centuries there were several across the town. The trade declined towards the end of the 19th century, coinciding with a decline 
in the port, and the last works closed in the early 20th century (Wright, 1973). Sail-making was recorded in the 18th century; the 
sails were used for both ship and mill sails. The hemp used to manufacture the ropes and sails was grown between Spalding and 
Crowland (Seaton, 2013). Boatbuilding businesses were also set up from the late 18th century. Workshops were also set up 
close to the river on Marsh Rail Road, Double Street and in the yard of the Jolly Crispin. The trade conƟnued into the early part 
of the 20th century; however, river trade was negaƟvely impacted following the introducƟon of the extensive railway links in 
Spalding, upon which it was cheaper and more efficient to transport goods. A blacksmith was established adjacent to the river 
from the mid 18th century (HER: MLI98570). It is recorded that the smithy, now known as Chain Bridge Forge owing to its loca-
Ɵon adjacent to the former footbridge, was servicing boats between 1850-60. This smithy is now a museum and blacksmiths. As 
a result of the quay’s decline, the ancillary services also gradually declined and trade on the river ceased. The deficit was then 
taken up by the expanding railway trade which provided efficient transport to mulƟple desƟnaƟons. In the late 19th century, 
bulb growing began to develop into a larger industry. IniƟally a small number of snowdrops were grown for their medicinal pur-
poses as well as daffodils and later tulips (Gooch, 1940). 

Arable and pastoral farming was also key to the town’s success. Sheep and caƩle were brought onto the nutrient rich fen pas-
tures to be faƩened, many of which were then traded through the markets in Spalding. Sheep pens were erected in Sheep Mar-
ket in 1876, but were removed before 1973 (Wright, 1973). UnƟl the 19th century geese farming was also common and geese 
were kept in large quanƟƟes for their feathers and quills, being plucked up to four Ɵmes a year. During the 18th and 19th centu-
ries, when proposals to enclose and drain the fens were being put forward, the cruelty to which the animals were subjected 
was debated and used as an argument in support of enclosure (Gooch, 1940). By 1828 however, there were sƟll feather and 
quill merchants based on Double Street (Pigot and Co, 1828). In the 18th century, drainage windmills were a common feature 
across the landscape and were used to pump away the water. Their introducƟon did improve drainage, although it was not unƟl 
the introducƟon of steam powered pumps such as Pode Hole in 1824/5 that much wider areas of land were effecƟvely and reli-
ably drained (HER: MLI23618). This technology brought new lands under culƟvaƟon, which greatly increased agricultural yields 
and raised land prices, which in turn, boosted the success of secondary local agricultural trades, such as milling and oil produc-
Ɵon.  

An increasing number of public insƟtuƟons were established in Spalding in the 19th century. Spalding is recorded to have had a 
workhouse by 1777, which catered to 56 people (Higginbotham, 2014). Following the introducƟon of new naƟonal Poor Law 
legislaƟon in 1834, the Spalding Poor Law Union was founded and a new workhouse was built  on Pinchbeck Road in 1836. The 
workhouse was designed by Bryan Browning (who also constructed the workhouses of Bourne and Stamford), and comprised a  
main building with two courtyards, a detached school and an infirmary (HER: MLI90081). The Union encompassed 8 parishes 
with a total populaƟon of 15,579. In 1930 the building became a Public Assistance InsƟtuƟon following the naƟonal aboliƟon of 
workhouses, and was eventually demolished; the site has since been redeveloped.  

In 1826, Spalding Prison was constructed adjacent to the Sessions House on Sheep Market. This highly visible building demon-
strated Spalding’s importance during this period to warrant having such a large prison. It has since been demolished and the 
site redeveloped. 

1.5.4 RELIGION AND EDUCATION  
As previously menƟoned, the Priory of Spalding was dissolved in 1540 following the religious reformaƟon insƟgated by Henry 
VIII. Large parts of its lands and possessions were confiscated and granted to Charles Brandon, Duke of Suffolk. Some of its pos-
sessions were distributed in alms in fulfilment of bequests, to the poor and an annual dole was offered in memory of its bene-
factors and former priors. Many of the priory buildings were dismantled with the stone being incorporated into new buildings.   

The post-medieval period saw the growth of non-conformist chapels across the county, a paƩern which was reflected in Spal-
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ding. Many early meeƟngs among non-conformist facƟons were iniƟally held in domesƟc houses, although by the 19th century, 
there were increasing numbers of purpose built chapels. The first records of the BapƟst faith appear in Spalding during the mid 
17th century, and the first official meeƟng house was constructed in 1689-91 (HER: MLI87488). This was destroyed during the 
fire which damaged much of the town centre in 1715, although a new structure was constructed on the same site shortly aŌer. 
In the 19th century, the building underwent mulƟple renovaƟons as congregaƟons grew. An Ebenezer BapƟst Chapel was 
opened on Love Lane in 1770, and enlarged in 1787 (HER: MLI99259). The chapel has since been demolished, and since 2010 
the site has been occupied by a community hall. Another BapƟst chapel was constructed on Spalding Common in 1870, alt-
hough this was demolished by 1979 (HER: MLI99254). In 1698 the Society of Friends are recorded to have bought two coƩages 
between Double Street and Westlode Street for the purpose of using the buildings as meeƟng houses and the gardens as burial 
ground (HER: MLI116258). These buildings were demolished in 1805, and in the same year the current meeƟng house was built 
in its place (HER: MLI94262 NHLE: 1063972).  

An Independent Chapel was constructed on Pinchbeck Road in 1821 (HER: MLI94542). In the same year, a PrimiƟve Methodist 
meeƟng was held in a carpenters workshop in the Market Place. A purpose built chapel was built on The Crescent in 1853 (HER: 
MLI99258), although this was short-lived and closed in 1871-1877; following the opening of a new chapel on St Thomas’ Road 
(HER: MLI97744). The Crescent chapel building subsequently became a Temperance Hall and was also used by the railway mis-
sion before its demoliƟon in 1955. St Peter’s Church was constructed on Priory Road in 1876 (HER: MLI23617). The building 
was open unƟl 1968, and has since been demolished; the site is now occupied by the South Holland District Council offices. In 
1857 a United Methodist Chapel was constructed on The Crescent. It was replaced in 1879 by a second chapel which stood 
unƟl it too was demolished in 1955 (HER: MLI99258). It was in this year that the Methodist church system of Spalding was reor-
ganised resulƟng in the demoliƟon or sale of numerous churches. The Church of the Immaculate ConcepƟon was built in 1877, 
in HenrieƩa Street and St Thomas’ Street, the funds for which had been giŌed by Mr Thomas Arthur Young, Lord of the Manor 
of Kingerby (HER: MLI83873). By 1940, the church and other buildings had fallen into a state of disrepair and much restoraƟon 
work was completed by 1950. By 1962 the neighbouring St Norbert’s School had moved to new premises, enabling the old 
school halls to be occupied by the church for use as the church hall. The hall underwent renovaƟon again in the 1980s before 
the church and ancillary buildings were demolished in 2002. 

The first chapel to open in LiƩle London, to the south of Spalding, was in 1829 (HER: MLI97760). This belonged to the PrimiƟve 
Methodist denominaƟon and was in use unƟl 1842, at which point it was rebuilt. It closed in 1985 and was used as a store-
house, although the building has fallen into disuse in the 21st century.  

Several Schools were established in the town over the post-medieval period as the town and its needs changed and the popula-
Ɵon grew. A free grammar school was erected in the reign of Elizabeth, with funds provided from the will of John Blanch. An-
other, called the PeƩy School, was founded in 1682, by Thomas Wellesley. It was moved to its current site on Haverfield road in 
the late 19th century. In 1710 a Bluecoat charity school was established in Spalding, the money for which had been provided by 
John Gamlyn. In 1845 a NaƟonal School was built on Church Street and a second was constructed in LiƩle London in 1871. Sev-
eral of the non-conformist chapels also had adjoining schools and Sunday Schools. St Norbert’s School, menƟoned above, was 
built with an entrance onto HenrieƩa Street in the late 19th century, the building was taken over in the 20th and was demol-
ished in the 21st.  

1.5.5 RAILWAY AND TRANSPORT 
Over the course of the post-medieval period extensive communicaƟon networks were established, which connected Spalding 
to the rest of the country and also dictated new development in the town. The main mode of transport for much of the period 
was the network of waterways, however this was supplemented in the 
18th century by the introducƟon of the turnpike road system. By the end 
of the 19th century, however, both the water ways and roads had been 
overtaken in importance by the railway. 

Roads to the north, south, east and west of Spalding were made into 
turnpike routes from the mid 18th century, and the town was at the cen-
tre of a busy road network. The earliest was the LiƩleworth Road 
(A1175). This connected Spalding to Market Deeping, which had further 
turnpikes to Bourne, Stamford and Peterborough. In 1764, turnpike 
roads were also established between Spalding and Donnington on what 
is now the B1356, with a branch onto Swineshead and Fossdyke to-
wards Boston. In the same year, Spalding was connected to Holbeach on Spalding Gentleman’s Society 
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the Holbeach turnpike, now the A151, which conƟnued eastwards towards Norfolk. In 1793, a turnpike road was established 
between Spalding and Crowland and a further turnpike road was added in 1822 which connected Spalding to Bourne. Bourne 
was a central juncƟon at the centre of several main routes; this is now the western branch of the A151. Over the century and in 
the early 19th century, public and coaching houses were established on the approach roads to the town, doubtlessly taking ad-
vantage of the increasing traffic through the town.  

Spalding was connected to the railway network in 1848, on a loop line be-
tween Peterborough, Boston and Lincoln built by the Great Northern Rail-
way. The staƟon was constructed to the north of Winsover Road on StaƟon 
Approach (HER: MLI94231, NHLE: 1063914). By 1862, a line had been added 
between Spalding and Kings Lynn via Holbeach, and further lines were add-
ed to Bourne in 1866 and March in 1867. The last railway line to be con-
structed connected the town to Lincoln via Sleaford in 1882. By the late 19th 
century, Spalding had become a major railway juncƟon and since its con-
strucƟon the staƟon had almost doubled in size (Caƞord, 2017). The railway 
lines have since dictated development with new houses and streets being 
constructed up to the boundary.  

1.5.6 RECREATION 
The Spalding Gentleman’s Society was iniƟally established in 1710 by lawyer Maurice Johnson as informal meeƟngs organised in 
a coffee-house, located in Abbey Yard. In 1712 the meeƟngs became a formalised event for “aÊSocietyÊofÊGentlemen,Ê forÊ theÊ
supporƟngÊofÊmutualÊbenevolence,ÊandÊtheirÊimprovementÊinÊtheÊliberalÊsciencesÊandÊinÊpoliteÊlearning” (Spalding Gents Society, 
2022). The society aƩracted scienƟsts and scholars from across Lincolnshire and the surrounding counƟes, counƟng Sir Isaac 
Newton and William Stukeley among its members. As well as learning, the society collected objects of historical significance and 
interest and has grown into a varied museum with a purpose built museum in 1911, located on Broad Street (HER: MLI94467, 
NHLE: 1147350). The society conƟnues to operate in the present day, and is now the oldest provincial learned society in Britain.  

In the early 18th century, theatre producƟons were held in the Spalding townhall (Wright, 1982). In 1753, a purpose built thea-
tre was established behind the White Hart, and extended onto Broad Street, which was then known as Crackpole. There were 
several public houses in the town during the post-medieval period, mainly located within the town centre or close to the quays. 
A race-ground was built to the west of LiƩle London in the post-medieval period and was in use during the 19th century (Wright, 
1982).  

The ChrisƟan AssociaƟon and Literary InsƟtute opened on Spring Gardens in 1871 (HER: MLI125570, NHLE: 1464585). This 
building became a social club in the 1930s and has since been used as a gym. It is currently due to be converted into flats. 

1.5.7 CHARACTERISTIC BUILDINGS 

The Old Johnson Memorial Hospital 
The Old Johnson Memorial Hospital, located on Priory Road, was opened in 1881. The funding for the building was giŌed in the 
wills of Elizabeth Ann and Mary Ann Johnson who leŌ a bequest to construct a hospital in Spalding. The building was used as a 
hospital and was uƟlised during the Second World War to treat soldiers, coming into the ownership of the NHS in 1948. In 2009, 
the building became vacant, following the founding of a new hospital on Pinchbeck Road (Henderson, 2019).  

The Sessions House (HER: MLI94250, NHLE: 1063960) 
The Sessions House is located to the south of Sheep Market. DaƟng to 1843 and Grade II listed this structure provides an impos-
ing structure on the edge of the market. The building served as a sessions court and magistrates court, unƟl 2016. The building 
is now a venue.  

The Church of St Paul (HER: MLI82879, NHLE: 1306702) 
The Grade I listed Church of St Paul is located in the hamlet of Fulney on one of the major approach roads into Spalding. It was 
constructed in 1877 as part of a larger project designed by Sir George Gilbert ScoƩ in an Early English style. ScoƩ died during 
the construcƟon and the work was completed by his son John Oldrid ScoƩ. The foundaƟon stone was laid by Miss CharloƩe 
Charinton, who was a benefactor of church construcƟon and restoraƟon in Spalding during this period.  

1.6 MODERN AND 21st CENTURY  
1.6.1 STREET PATTERN AND DEVELOPMENT  
The populaƟon of Spalding grew rapidly over the 20th century, recorded at 9385 in 1901, rising to 12595 in 1931 and 14436 in 

Session House, Sheep Market 






























